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ADMINISTRATOR’S APPEAL BRIEF

Pursuant to 49 C.F.R. § 821.48(a) of the Board's Rules of Practice in Air Safety
Proceedings, the Administrator of the Federal Aviation Administration files this brief on appeal
of Administrative Law Judge Patrick G. Geraghty’s written decisional order served on March 6,
2014, which granted Respondent’s motion to dismiss, vacated the FAA’s order of assessment,
and terminated the proceeding with prejudice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 27, 2013, the FAA issued an order assessing Respondent a $10,000 civil penalty
based on allegations that he operated an unmanned aircraft system (UAS), a Ritewing Zepher
power glider aircraft, on October 17, 2011, in the vicinity of the University of Virginia. The
order alleged that he deliberately operated the aircraft at low altitudes over vehicles, buildings,
people, streets, and structures. The order, among other things, alleged that Respondent operated
the aircraft: directly towards an individual standing on a University of Virginia sidewalk causing

the individual to take immediate evasive maneuvers so as to avoid being struck by the aircraft;



through a tunnel containing moving vehicles; under a crane; below treetop level over a tree-lined
walkway; within approximately 15 feet of a statue; within approximately 50 feet of railway
tracks; within approximately 50 feet of numerous individuals; within approximately 20 feet of an
active street containing numerous pedestrians and cars; within approximately 25 feet of
numerous buildings on the University of Virginia campus; on at least three occasions under an
elevated pedestrian walkway; above an active street; directly towards a two-story building on the
campus below its rooftop and making an abrupt climb in order to avoid hitting the building; and
within approximately 100 feet of an active heliport. The order alleged that Respondent violated
14 C.F.R. § 91.13(a) in that Respondent operated the aircraft in a careless or reckless manner so
as to endanger the life or property of another.

Respondent filed a notice of appeal and the FAA filed the order assessing the civil
penalty as the complaint. Respondent filed a motion to dismiss on September 27, 2014, arguing
that the complaint should be dismissed as a matter of law. In his motion, Respondent essentially
argued that there are no current Federal Aviation Administration regulations that applied to
Respondent’s operation as alleged in the complaint. The FAA responded in opposition to
Respondent’s motion. The ALJ allowed the parties to make an additional responsive filing. In
his supplemental filing, Respondent argued that his Ritewing Zepher power glider should not be
treated as an aircraft for regulatory compliance purposes and that the FAA could not regulate the
airspace within which he operated that aircraft. The FAA filed an opposition citing its broad
statutory and regulatory authority with regard to aviation safety as the basis for its order and
requested the ALJ to defer to the FAA’s interpretation of that authority.

On March 6, 2014, the ALJ issued a decisional order granting Respondent’s motion.

The FAA filed a timely appeal of that order.



THE DECISIONAL ORDER

In his decision, the ALJ reasons that if he were to construe the statutory and regulatory
definitions of the term “aircraft,” which are found in 49 U.S.C. § 40102(a)(6) and 14 C.F.R.

§ 1.1 respectively, as the FAA argued in its submissions in this case, that it could subject the
operator of a “paper aircraft, or a toy balsa wood glider . . . to the regulatory provisions of FAA
Part 91, Section 91.13(a).”" Order at 3. He suggests that because the FAA has not in the past
required what he refers to broadly as “model aircraft” to comply with part 21 and part 43 of its
regulatioﬁs it has implicitly “distinguished model aircraft as a class excluded from the regulatory
and statutory definitions.” Id. He also notes that in 14 C.F.R. part 103 of its regulations, the
FAA has elected to apply only some of its safety regulations to “ultralight vehicles.” He
surmises from this, without much explanation at all, that because the FAA has not promulgated
similar regulations with regard to “model aircraft” operations, it cannot enforce its existing
regulations.

As support for his belief that the FAA implicitly distinguished model aircraft from the
statutory and regulatory definition of “aircraft” for purposes of enforcing its regulations when
there is noncompliance, the ALJ cites Advisory Circular (AC) 91-57, which encourages model
aircraft operators to voluntarily comply with safety standards. He concludes from the AC that
seeking voluntary compliance from model aircraft operators is “incompatible” with the FAA also
subjecting them to mandatory compliance with the Federal Aviation Regulations. Order at 4.

He concludes that “Respondent’s model aircraft operation was not subject to FAR regulation and

enforcement.” Id. He also notes that the FAA has not promulgated a regulatory definition for

! The ALJ states, “Accepting Complainant’s overreaching interpretation of the definition [of]
‘aircraft,” would result reductio ad absurdum in assertion of FAR regulatory authority over any
device/object used or capable of flight in the air, regardless of method of propulsion or duration
of flight.” Order at 7 n.24.




the term “UAS.”* He goes on to discuss FAA Notice 07-01 and, while acknowledging that
neither AC 91-57 nor Notice 07-01 are regulatory in nature, he finds that they are instructive to
his holding that the statutory and regulatory definitions of aircraft found in 49 U.S.C.
§ 40102(a)(6) and 14 C.F.R. § 1.1 are not applicable to “model aircraft.”® Order at 7. He further
finds that Respondent’s operation of a Ritewing Zepher power glider aircraft as described in the
complaint was not subject to regulation under the Federal Aviation Regulations, but only to the
voluntary safety guidelines in AC 91-7. Id. Based on these findings, he granted the motion to
dismiss, vacated the FAA’s order, and terminated the proceeding with prejudice.
ISSUES

I. Whether the ALJ Erred in Finding that the Ritewing Zepher Power Glider
Respondent Operated in the Vicinity of the University of Virginia Was Not an Aircraft as
Defined in 49 U.S.C. § 40102(a)(6) and 14 C.F.R. § 1.1?
IL. Whether the ALJ Erred in Finding that Respondent’s Operation of the Ritewing
Zepher Power Glider Aircraft as Described in the Complaint Was Not Subject to
Regulation Under the Federal Aviation Regulations?

ARGUMENT
L The ALJ Erred in Substituting his Judgment for that of the FAA as to whether
Respondent’s Operation of the Ritewing Zepher Power Glider as Described in the

Complaint Constituted Operation of an “Aircraft” Within the Plain Meaning of 49 U.S.C.
§ 40102(a)(6) and 14 C.F.R. § 1.1.

2 In the “FAA Modernization and Reform Act of 2012,” Pub. L. No. 112-95, which became
effective on February 14, 2012 (about four months after Respondent’s flight), the terms “small
unmanned aircraft,” “unmanned aircraft,” “unmanned aircraft system,” and “model aircraft” are
defined as “aircraft.” Pub. L. 112-95, §§ 331(6), (8), (9), and 336(c) respectively.

* Because the ALJ decided the case solely in regard to the meaning of the word “aircraft,” he did
not address Respondent’s secondary issue as to whether the FAA has the authority to regulate the
airspace in which Respondent operated. Order at 8 n.26.






